UNI TED STATES COURT OF APPEALS
for the Fifth Crcuit

No. 95-50612
Summary Cal endar

UNI TED STATES OF AMERI CA,
Pl ai ntiff-Appellee,
VERSUS
HASHI M ESTEBAN THOVAS, JULI US RAY SEPHUS, JR
AND STEVEN LEE THOVAS, ||
Def endant s- Appel | ant s.

Appeal fromthe United States District Court
for the Western District of Texas

June 10, 1996
Bef ore DAVI S, BARKSDALE and DeM3SS, Circuit Judges.
PER CURI AM !

Hashi m Est eban Thonmas, Julius Sephus, and Steven Lee Thonas,
|1, appeal their convictions for bank robbery, use of a firearm
in connection with the robbery (Sephus and Steven Thomas), and
carjacking (Sephus). W AFFIRMin part, REVERSE in part and
RENDER

1 Pursuant to Local Rule 47.5, the court has determn ned that
this opinion should not be published and is not precedent except
under the limted circunstances set forth in Local Rule 47.5. 4.



| .

Hashi m Thomas, Julius Sephus, and Steven Thomas conspired
with 9 other individuals? to rob the Normangee State Bank in
Nor mangee, Texas. The heavily arned group of 12 traveled from
Houston, Texas, to Normangee in three cars and nade final plans
for the robbery at Hopewell Cenetery, just outside Normangee. As
they prepared for the robbery, the group distributed gloves, sk
masks, bandannas, and bull et proof vests anongst thensel ves.

The group twice traveled fromthe cenetery into town only to
di scover the bank was not yet open. The group, frustrated that
t he bank was not yet open, gathered again at the cenetery and
sone of themwent to a conveni ence store to buy beer. Steven
Thomas argued that they should rob the conveni ence store and kil
everyone inside so there would be no witnesses. No one woul d
help Steven rob the store and the group ultimtely agreed to rob
the bank as originally planned.

The third tinme the group arrived at the bank, it was open.
Steven Thomas, arned with a pistol, entered the bank first.
Several other nenbers of the group, including Hashi m Thomas and
Sephus, entered the bank after Thonmas. Two of the getaway cars
| eft the scene during the robbery; consequently, when the group

exited the bank, only one car, a Honda Accord, was there.

2 Jeral ene Valverde, Dennis Castaneda, Denetrius Guznan
Janes Tyrone Hoskins, Anthony J. Col eman, Marquez Marquette Jones,
Rudol fo Al onzo, Jr., Ronnie Donyell Harris, and Gary Harris.
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Everyone was forced to pile into the Honda Accord, with two
menbers of the group riding in the trunk.

As they left the area, shots were fired fromthe passenger
side of the Honda. A truck pursued the Honda and Denetri us
Guzman, who was riding in the trunk, fired at it. As the group
returned to the cenetery, Sephus was “looking for a car to jack.”
They saw a small grey vehicle in the cenetery ahead of them
driven by Ms. Ruby Parker, an elderly woman. Sephus approached
the car, tapped on the wi ndow, and ordered Ms. Parker out of the
car. \Wen she attenpted to drive away, Sephus shot and killed
her. Steven Thomas and Guzman left in Ms. Parker’s car, and the
remai nder of the group left in the Honda.

Nearly all of the group pleaded guilty. Hashi m Thonas,
Sephus, and Steven Thonmas proceeded to trial. The jury convicted
Hashi m Thomas of bank robbery in violation of 18 U S.C. § 2113
(a) & (d). The jury convicted Sephus of bank robbery in
violation of 18 U . S.C. 8§ 2113 (a) & (d) and also in violation of
§ 2113 (a) & (e), two counts of using a firearmduring the
comm ssion of a crinme of violence, in violation of 18 U S.C
8 924(c)(1), and carjacking in violation of 18 U S.C. § 2119.
Finally, the jury convicted Steven Thomas of bank robbery, in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2113 (a) & (d), and use of a firearm
during a crinme of violence, in violation of 18 U S. C. 8924(c)(1).

The district court sentenced Hashi m Thomas to 240 nonths’

i nprisonnment and 3 years’ supervised release. The court
sentenced Sephus to life for the bank robbery conviction under
subsections (a) & (e) and the carjacking conviction, 300 nonths’
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i nprisonment for the bank robbery conviction under subsections
(a) & (d), to run concurrently with his convictions for bank
robbery and carjacking, and to 60 nonths’ inprisonment on each of
the two firearmconvictions, to run consecutively to the bank
robbery and carjacki ng convictions. The court sentenced Steven
Thomas to 300 nonths’ inprisonnent for bank robbery under § 2113
(a) & (d) and to 60 nonths’ inprisonnment for the firearm
conviction, to be served consecutively. The court also ordered
restitution of $126,558.64 jointly and severally payabl e by al
the participants in the robbery. The appellants assert various
errors on appeal .
1.

A. Multiplicitous indictnent of Sephus

The jury convicted Sephus of bank robbery under § 2113 (a) &
(d) (count 1) and 8 2113 (a) & (e) (count 2). Sephus contends
that his sentence for bank robbery under § 2113 (a) and (e) nust
be vacated because the indictnment was nultiplicitous.

Sephus did not raise this issue in the district court. A
def endant may chall enge his convictions as nultiplicitous for the
first time on appeal provided the sentences are not to be served

concurrently. United States v. Galvan, 949 F.2d 777, 781 (5th

Cr. 1991). |If nonetary assessnents under 18 U. S.C. 8§ 3013 are
i nposed on separate counts of conviction, the sentences are not
concurrent, and the issue of nmultiplicity of sentences nay be
raised for the first tinme on appeal. |1d.

Sephus may raise the nmultiplicity of sentences issue on
appeal because even though his life sentence for the conviction
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under 8§ 2113 (a) and (e) and his 300 nonth term of inprisonnment
for the conviction under §8 2113 (a) and (d), run concurrently,
the court also inposed a $50 speci al assessnent on each count.
The Governnent concedes that Sephus’ sentences on counts 1
and 2 are multiplicitous but argues that under a plain error
anal ysis, the $50 nonetary assessnment on count two does not rise
to the level of plain error. This court has held, wthout
reference to plain error, that although there nay be separate

convi ctions under subsections (a), (d), and (e) of § 2113, the

court may not inpose nore than one penalty. United States v.

Bates, 896 F.2d 912, 913 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 496 U S. 929,

942 (1990). The two special assessnents are two penal ties under
§ 2113.

We agree with both parties that count 2 is nultiplicitous.
Accordi ngly, we reverse Sephus’ conviction under Count 2 of the
i ndi ctnment, vacate the portion of his sentence attributable to
that count (300 nmonths’ inprisonnent and $50 of Sephus’ speci al
assessnent) and affirmhis sentence under count 1 (life

i mprisonnent) .3

B. Testinony about plans to rob the conveni ence store
All three appellants contend that the district court erred

when it allowed testinony about the group’s discussion, just

3 W need not remand to the district court for resentencing
on count 1 because neither party requests such a remand and we have
no doubt that the district court will inpose the sane sentence even
if we do remand for resentencing. See United States v. Hord, 6 F. 3d
276, 280 n.8 (5th Cr. 1993).




prior to the bank robbery and carjacking, of whether it should
rob a convenience store and nurder the store’s patrons instead of
robbi ng t he bank.

This court reviews decisions on the adm ssibility of

evi dence for abuse of discretion. United States v. Fortenberry,

919 F.2d 923, 925 (5th CGr. 1990), cert. denied, 499 U S. 930

(1991). Even if error is shown, however, it is subject to a

harm ess error analysis. United States v. Jinenez Lopez, 873

F.2d 769, 771 (5th Gr. 1989). An error is harmess if the
reviewing court is sure, after viewng the entire record, that
the error did not influence the jury or had a very slight effect

on its verdict. United States v. Rodriquez, 43 F.3d 117, 123

(5th Gr.), cert. denied, 115 S. C. 2260 (1995). Harml ess error

anal ysis also includes an inquiry into whether a curative
instruction was given and whether the properly admtted evi dence

is overwhelmng. United States v. Pace, 10 F. 3d 1106, 1116 (5th

Cr. 1993), cert. denied, 114 S. C. 2180 (1994).

We need not decide whether the district court abused its
discretion by admtting the “other act” evidence because, even if
we assune that adm ssion of the challenged testinony was error,
the error was harnml ess. The chal lenged testinony was a few bri ef
sentences fromtwo of the group nenbers and probably had no
effect on the jury's verdict given the overwhel m ng evidence of
the appellants’ guilt, which included the incul patory testinony
of six of their codefendants. Moreover, the trial court pronptly
provided a limting instruction adnoni shing the jury on how it

coul d use the testinony.



C. Sufficiency of the evidence to convict Steven Thonas

Steven Thonmas argues that although he “may have” gone into
t he bank, there is insufficient evidence to show that he carried
a gun or commtted a robbery by force, violence, or intimdation.
St even acknow edges the testinony of his co-conspirators which
uni formy placed himinside the bank hol ding a gun but contends
that this testinony is sonehow not credi ble and notes that none
of the bank enpl oyees who testified indicated that he entered the
bank or carried a weapon.

In reviewing the sufficiency of the evidence, this court
must determ ne whet her any reasonable trier of fact could have
found that the evidence established guilt beyond a reasonabl e

doubt. United States v. Martinez, 975 F.2d 159, 160-61 (5th Cr.

1992), cert. denied, 507 U S. 943 (1993). Reasonabl e inferences

are construed in accordance with the jury's verdict and the jury
is solely responsible for determ ning the weight and credibility
of the evidence. 1d. at 161. A guilty verdict may rest upon the
uncorroborated testinony of co-conspirators unless the testinony

is facially incredible. United States v. Bernea, 30 F.3d 1539,

1552 (5th Gir. 1994), cert. denied, 115 S. Ct. 1825 (1995). This

court will not substitute its own determ nation (or that of
Steven Thonmas) for that of the jury. Mrtinez, 975 F.2d at 161
The uniformtestinony of Steven Thonmas’ co-conspirators
established that: Steven entered the bank first, carried a gun,
drew the gun once he was inside the bank, and energed fromthe
bank’s vault with his arnms full of noney. The jury obviously
credited this testinony. Steven's sufficiency argunent fails
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because a rational jury could have found himguilty of the crines

char ged.

D. Sufficiency of the evidence - Sephus’ carjacking conviction

Sephus contends that the Governnent failed to prove by
sufficient evidence that he “took” a car fromthe person and
presence of Ruby Parker as required under 18 U.S.C. § 2119.°
Sephus contends that even though he shot Ms. Parker, he did not
exercise any control over her vehicle or |leave in her vehicle
and, thus, did not “take” her car within the neani ng of the
statute. Sephus alternatively argues that even if “taking”
requires only the exercise of dom nion or control wthout
asportation (an appreci able change of |ocation of the property),
there was insufficient evidence to show that he exercised
dom ni on over Ms. Parker’s vehicle.

Sephus failed to nove for a judgnent of acquittal.
Therefore, Sephus' sufficiency-of-the evidence claimis
reviewable only to determ ne whether there was a nmanif est

m scarriage of justice. See United States v. Laury, 49 F.3d 145,

151 (5th Cr.), cert. denied, 116 S. C. 162 (1995). Such exists

only if the record is devoid of evidence pointing to guilt, or

4 Section 2119, the carjacking statute, provides:

[wW] hoever, with the intent to cause death or serious
bodily harm takes a notor vehicle that has been
transported, shipped, or received in interstate or
foreign commerce fromthe person or presence of another
by force and violence or by intimdation, or attenpts to
do so, . . . .

18 U.S.C. §8 2119 (enphasis added).
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because the evidence on a key el enent of the offense is so
t enuous that a conviction would be shocking. 1d.

As Sephus hinself notes, there was testinony that he “was
| ooking for a car to jack,” he ordered Ms. Parker out of the
car, and he shot her when she failed to conply. Through his
actions, Sephus deprived Ms. Parker of her car. The nere fact
that other nenbers of the group physically drove the car away

fromhis carjacking does not render the conviction “shocking.”

E. Sentencing of Steven and Hashi m Thomas

Hashi m and Steven Thonmas argue that the nurder statute under
whi ch they were sentenced, 18 U . S.C. § 1111, is
unconstitutionally vague.® Section 1111 provides that “[n]urder
is the unlawful killing of a human being with nalice
aforethought.” 18 U . S.C. 8§ 1111. Hashim and Steven contend that
the phrase “malice aforethought” is inconprehensible to the
average person, facially fails to provide any guidelines to what
constitutes “malice aforethought,” and leads to erratic
deci si ons.

Penal statutes nust “define the crimnal offense with
sufficient definiteness that ordinary people can understand what

conduct is prohibited and in a manner that does not encourage

5> Hashim and Steven were convicted of bank robbery in
violation of 18 U.S.C. § 2113 (a) & (d). The applicable sentencing
gui delines, found at U S.S.G § 2B3.1, provide that if a victimis
killed under circunstances that would constitute nurder under 8
1111 had the killing taken place wthin the territorial
jurisdiction of the U S., the first degree nurder guideline, 8§
2A1.1, applies. Accordi ngly, Hashim and Steven were sentenced
under § 2Al.1.



arbitrary and discrimnatory enforcenent.” Buckley v. Collins,

904 F.2d 263, 266 (5th Gir.), cert. denied, 498 U.S. 990 (1990)

(alteration in original), (quoting Kolender v. Lawson, 461 U S

352, 357 (1983)). Since neither Steven nor Hashimraised the
voi d-f or -vagueness argunent below, we review for plain error.
“Void for vagueness sinply neans that crim nal
responsibility should not attach where one could not reasonably
understand that his contenplated conduct is proscribed.” United

States v. National Dairy Prod. Corp., 372 U S. 29, 32 (1963).

Section 1111 is clear enough that a reasonabl e person
contenplating a nurder in cold blood, such as Sephus’ nurder of
Ruby Parker, would understand that his conduct was proscri bed.

The Thomases fail to show error, plain or otherw se.

F. Restitution required of Steven Thomas & Hashi m Thonas

Appel  ants Steven and Hashi m Thomas argue that the district
court failed to consider their ability to pay restitution when it
entered a restitution order of $126,558. 64, payable jointly by
all the participants in the robbery. Hashim also contends that
the court gave no indication of what the factual basis was for
its decision. Steven and Hashimdid not challenge the order of
restitution in the district court so we review for plain error.

The sentenci ng guidelines provide that restitution shall be
ordered for violations of Title 18. U S . S.G § 5E1.1 (1994)
(referring the sentencing court to 18 U S.C. §8 3664). Sentencing
judges are accorded broad discretion in ordering restitution and
are not required to nake specific findings on each factor |isted
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in 8 3664. See United States v. Ryan, 874 F.2d 1052, 1054 (5th

Cir. 1989). The defendant has the burden of proving that he
cannot pay restitution by objecting and requesting specific

findings concerning his ability to pay. United States v. Reese,

998 F.2d 1275, 1281 (5th Gir. 1993); 18 U.S.C. § 3664(d).
Hashi m and Steven Thomas have failed to show that the
district court plainly erred by ordering themto pay restitution.
Calverley, 37 F.3d at 162-63. Their only argunent is that they

w || have bl eak enpl oynent prospects upon their release. This,
initself, is not enough to render a restitution order illegal or

plainly erroneous. United States v. Stafford, 896 F.2d 83, 84

(5th Gir. 1990).

Concl usi on

Jul i us Sephus’ indictnment for bank robbery under 18 U S.C. 8§
2113 (a) and (e) was inproperly multiplicitous. The district
court did not err in admtting testinony of the defendants’ plans
to rob a convenience store and kill its custoners. The evidence
was sufficient to convict Steven Thomas of bank robbery, use of a
firearmin connection with a crine of violence, and ai ding and
abetting and was sufficient to convict Sephus of carjacking even
t hough he did not nove Ms. Parker’s car. The sentences of
St even and Hashi m Thomas were proper and the order of restitution
was not plain error. Accordingly, we REVERSE Sephus’ conviction
under § 2113 (a) and (e) and the resulting 300 nonth sentence and

$50 speci al assessnment, AFFIRM Sephus’ |ife sentence for his
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conviction under 8 2113 (a) and (d), and AFFIRM the convictions
of Steven and Hashim Thomas in all respects.

AFFI RMVED in part, REVERSED in part and RENDERED
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